RECEIVED

Jul 17 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-32-00387
Appellate Case No. 2019-001609

Rachel Farley, as Trustee of the Louise Farley Revocable Trust Dated February 8, 2005;
Drummond B. Farley; Rachel R. Farley; Carol E. Farley; and Nancy E. Farley Appellants,

v.

Church of the Harvest of Columbia, Inc., Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

S. Jahue Moore
William H. Edwards
Moore Taylor Law Firm, P.A.
1700 Sunset Boulevard
P.O. Box 5709
West Columbia, SC 29171
Telephone: (803) 796-9160
Facsimile: (803) 791-8410

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the lower court properly rule that Respondent should be granted summary judgment as to Appellant's claims on the grounds that she owns an express easement and Respondent has encroached upon that easement?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Lexington County Court of Common Pleas by Appellants, Rachel Farley, as Trustee of the Louise Farley Revocable Trust; and Rachel R. Farley, individually (hereinafter also referred to as "The Trust"), from a summary judgment entered in favor of the Respondents, The Church of the Harvest of Columbia, Inc., (hereinafter also referred to as the "The Church").

The Trust owns a ten acre tract of land that is accessible only by way of an appurtenant easement over land of The Church. (R. p. 5). The easement was reserved by The Trust's predecessor in interest, Mrs. Louise Farley. (R. p. 11). Specifically, Mrs. Farley owned approximately nineteen acres of land adjacent to land owned by The Church. (R. p. 41). Mrs. Farley and The Church entered into an Agreement for the sale of approximately eight acres, divided into three Phases, of the property. *Id.* As a result of the sale, the remainder of the property (ten acres) would become landlocked. (R. p. 7). To avoid this, the Agreement contained a provision allowing Mrs. Farley to retain an easement for access to the remaining ten acre tract. *Id.* Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Agreement, Mrs. Farley, her heirs and assigns, held by both reservation and grant, an easement 66 feet in width along the Western boundary of Phase II and Phase III. (R. p. 11). By deed dated March 8, 2005 and recorded in Deed Book 9960 at page 286, Mrs. Farley conveyed the ten acre tract together with the appurtenant easement to The Trust. *Id.*

The Church obstructed and/or encroached upon The Trust's easement by erecting a parking lot two buildings. (R. p. 12). The Church refused to remove these obstructions and encroachments upon demand of the Trust. The Trust brought the instant action seeking, *inter alia*, a declaration from the Circuit Court of the parties one to another including a declaration that The Church must remove all obstructions from the easement. (R. p. 41). The Circuit Court granted summary judgment in favor of The Church and dismissed the complaint without addressing these matters. (R. p. 41).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. *Gadson v. Hembree*, 364 S.C. 316, 613 S.E.2d 533 (2005); *Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 362 S.C. 529, 608 S.E.2d 440 (S.C. App. 2004). Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied. *Baugus v. Wessinger*, 303 S.C. 412, 401 S.E.2d 169 (1991); *Nelson v. Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm'n*, 362 S.C. 1, 605 S.E.2d 744 (S.C. App. 2004).

However, when reasonable minds cannot differ on plain, palpable, and indisputable facts, summary judgment should be granted. *Ellis v. Davidson*, 358 S.C. 509, 595 S.E.2d 817 (S.C. App. 2004). The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. *McCall v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 359 S.C. 372, 597 S.E.2d 181 (S.C. App. 2004).

Where the burden of proof is a preponderance of the evidence standard, the non-moving party must only submit a mere scintilla of evidence to withstand a motion for summary judgment. *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009); *Bass v. Gopal, Inc.*, 395 S.C. 129, 134, 716 S.E.2d 910, 912 (2011).

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE APPELLANT OWNS THE EASEMENT ON THE PROPERTY, HAS AN UNFETTERED RIGHT TO USE OF THAT EASEMENT, AND APPELLANT'S CLAIM IS NOT BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATION.

The lower court erred in granting Respondent's motion for summary judgment on Appellant's claims because it is clear that Appellant has an express easement, Appellant has an unfettered right to use of that easement, Respondent has violated their rights by encroaching upon that easement, and the continued violation of the easement continues and resets the statute of limitations each day the encroachment remains. As an initial matter, it is clear that Appellant has an express easement. "A reservation of an easement in a deed by which lands are conveyed is equivalent, for the purpose of the creation of the easement, to an express grant of the easement by the grantee of the land." *Ward v. Evans*, 387 S.C. 401, 409, 693 S.E.2d 7, 11 (Ct. App. 2010). In 1994, Appellant signed an agreement with Respondent whereby the Respondent purchased about eight acres of land and creating an express easement in favor of Farley to traverse the land purchased by Respondent in order for Farley to access the remainder of her land.

Equally clear, however, an express "easement may be terminated by the servient estate owner's adverse use or possession of the easement area for the period of prescription." Jon W. Bruce & James W. Ely Jr., *The Law of Easements & Licenses in Land* ' 10:25 (Westlaw database update Mar. 2018). "To establish a prescriptive easement, one must show: (1) continued and

uninterrupted use or enjoyment of the right for [the statutory period¹]; (2) the identity of the thing enjoyed; and (3) use or enjoyment which is either adverse or under claim of right.” *Bundy v. Shirley*, 412 S.C. 292, 304, 772 S.E.2d 163, 169-70 (2015). “[A] party claiming a prescriptive easement has the burden of proving all elements by clear and convincing evidence.” *Id.* at 306, 772 S.E.2d at 170.

Respondent cannot claim an easement by prescription as it fails as a matter of law. First, Respondent’s adverse use of the property falls short of the statutory period, having begun sometime after February 2006, which is ten years prior to the filing of the lawsuit. Second, the Respondent’s use was not adverse as Appellant gave Respondent permission to use. *See, e.g., Bundy*, 412 S.C. at 307-308, 772 S.E.2d at 171-72 (evidence was sufficient to support special referee’s finding that claimant’s use of disputed road to access his property was permissive, and thus, defeated claimant’s acquisition of a prescriptive easement). Therefore, for either reason, Respondent cannot prove that it terminated Appellant’s easement by prescription.

Furthermore, Respondent’s assertion of the three-year statute of limitations period is without merit. Defendant contends that the allegations made in the Plaintiff’s complaint are barred by the three year statute of limitations found in S.C. Code Ann. §15-3-530. However, if and to the extent that Appellant seeks to establish her rights with regard to the easement, then the statutory period required for adverse possession applies. *See Bruce & Ely, The Law of Easements & Licenses in Land* ' 5:17 (Westlaw database updated Mar. 2018) (“In most jurisdictions, the period of prescription is derived by analogy from the statute of limitations governing actions to recover the

¹ Although some recent case law states that the statutory period is twenty years, *see Bundy v. Shirley*, 412 S.C. 292, 304, 772 S.E.2d 387, 390 (2015); *Simmons v. Berkeley Elec. Coop., Inc.*, 419 S.C. 223, 229, 797 S.E.2d 387, 390 (2016), the applicable statute currently provides for a ten-year period, *see* S.C. Ann. Code § 15-3-340 (“No action for the recovery of real property or for the recovery of the possession of real property may be maintained unless it appears that the plaintiff, his ancestor, predecessor, or grantor, was seized or possessed of the premises in question within ten years before the commencement of the action.”).

possession of land. Courts typically rely on the adverse possession statute and assume, without discussion, that this measure determines the prescriptive period." (footnotes omitted)). In South Carolina, the limitations period for adverse possession is 10 years. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-340; *see also supra* note 1.

Regardless of the labels attached to the various counts of Appellant's complaint against Respondent, the gravamen of those allegations is Appellant's right to the Easement and the Respondent's encroachment thereon. It is well established that in 2006, Respondent built a parking lot, a portion of which encroached on the Easement, and in 2009, built a structure, a portion of which encroached on the Easement. In both instances, the Church's encroachment was unintended, and to the extent that Appellant knew of the encroachments, she did not take any action.

CONCLUSION

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