**RECEIVED**

**Jul 21 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001609

---

Rachel Farley, as Trustee of the Louise Farley Revocable Trust Dated February 8, 2005;  
Drummond B. Farley; Rachel R. Farley; Carol E. Farley; and Nancy E. Farley, Appellants,

v.

Church of the Harvest of Columbia, Inc., Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Robert W. Dibble, Jr., SC Bar #1675  
HARRELL, MARTIN & PEACE, P.A.  
135 Columbia Avenue  
Post Office Box 1000  
Chapin, South Carolina 29036  
Telephone: (803) 345-3353

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

## ARGUMENT

This Court lacks jurisdiction to hear this appeal because the Notice of Intent to Appeal filed on September 23, 2019 was untimely. If the appeal is allowed to go forward, the issue should be limited to addressing only the three clerical corrections made in the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order. If the appeal is allowed to go forward on all issues, the Order of the lower court should be affirmed.

### I.

For the reasons set forth below this Court does not have jurisdiction to hear this appeal. The appeal should therefore be dismissed.

A. The requirement of the timely filing of a Notice of Appeal is jurisdictional. Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 381 S.C. 9, 602 S.E. 2d 772 (2004). If a party misses the deadline for filing a notice of appeal, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to “rescue” the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice. Id. at 15, 775. If a party does not timely file a Notice of Appeal, this Court lacks jurisdiction, and an untimely appeal must be dismissed under the holding in Elam, supra. As shown below, the appeal was untimely, this Court lacks jurisdiction to hear this appeal, and the appeal should be dismissed.

B. The Rule 60(a) motion did not toll the time to appeal. In the case of Otten v. Otten, 287 S.C. 166, 167, 337 S.E.2d 207, 208 (1985), the Supreme Court distinguished a motion under Rule 59(e) from a motion under Rule 60(a). The former, if proper and timely, tolls the time for appeal. The latter does not. Therefore, the Rule 60(a) motion filed by the Church had no effect on the time to appeal from any final Order in this case.

C. No timely appeal was taken from any final Order. Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR, is as follows:

**(1) Appeals from the Court of Common Pleas.** A notice of appeal shall be served on all respondents within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of entry of the order or judgment. When a timely motion for judgment n.o.v. (Rule 50, SCRCP), motion to alter or amend the judgment (Rules 52 and 59, SCRCP), or a motion for a new trial (Rule 59, SCRCP) has been made, the time for appeal for all parties shall be stayed and shall run from receipt of written notice of entry of the order granting or denying such motion. When a form or other short order or judgment indicates that a more full and complete order or judgment is to follow, a party need not appeal until receipt of written notice of entry of the more complete order or judgment.

Neither the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order nor the July 19<sup>th</sup> Order denying Rachel Farley's first post-trial motion indicated that a relevant "more full and complete order or judgment" on the merits would follow. Therefore, each of those Orders was final when issued and each was immediately appealable. The May 9<sup>th</sup> Order was served on May 10<sup>th</sup>, and the June 19<sup>th</sup> Order was served on June 19<sup>th</sup>. The portion of the June 19<sup>th</sup> Order granting the Rule 60(a) Motion and amending the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order only in that regard did indicate that a "more full and complete order" memorializing those amendments would follow. But the Revised Order of July 23<sup>rd</sup> was limited to the three clerical changes. The Revised Order was filed and served on July 23<sup>rd</sup>. As shown below, no timely appeal was taken by any Appellant from either of those final Orders.

D. To the extent the Notice of Appeal filed on September 23rd applies to the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order (which on its face it does not), it should be dismissed as untimely. The time to appeal expired on either June 14<sup>th</sup> or July 19<sup>th</sup>.

1. The time to appeal from the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order expired on June 14<sup>th</sup>. Rachel Farley's first Rule 59(e) Motion was not necessary or proper. Therefore, it did not toll the time for appeal, and the time to appeal expired on June 14<sup>th</sup>. The Supreme Court in Elam, supra, said:

If a party is unsure whether he properly raised all issues and obtained a ruling, he must file a Rule 59(e) motion or an appellate court may later determine the issue or argument is not preserved for review. But in filing the motion, he may unwittingly forfeit the right to an appeal if an appellate court later determines the Rule 59(e) motion was unnecessary because he had already raised the issue and obtained a ruling.

Elam at 25, 781 (emphasis added). The Supreme Court went on to say: “We strive to avoid an interpretation of procedural rules which routinely would place a party between the proverbial rock and a hard place.” Id. However, in the footnote related to that sentence, the Court said: “An aggrieved party who is confident his issues and arguments were sufficiently raised to and ruled on by the trial court may wish to serve a timely Notice of Appeal.” Id. at n. 5.

In the case at bar, if this Court determines that Rachel Farley’s first Rule 59(e) motion was unnecessary because the issues raised by her in the 59(e) motion had been “raised to and ruled upon by the trial court,” the time to appeal from the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order was not tolled by the motion and expired on June 14<sup>th</sup>. That is the case here.

The Plaintiffs claimed an easement over lands of the Church. The Court found the Plaintiffs held such an easement. The Plaintiffs claimed the Church obstructed their easement with a building and two (2) parking lots. The Court found that to be true. The Plaintiffs claimed the Church must remove the obstructions. The Court discussed the relevant claims of the Plaintiffs in that regard and the law applicable to those claims. Then, based

on the uncontroverted facts in the record, the Court ruled that all of the Plaintiffs' causes of action relating to the abstractions were time barred.

Rachel Farley's 59(e) Motion sought "an order altering or amending the court's judgment [of May 9<sup>th</sup>] so as to recognize the validity of the Plaintiff Trust's easement, that the easement has been obstructed by the Defendant and that the Defendant must remove the obstructions from the easement."

Rachel Farley's first Rule 59(e) motion was not necessary or proper since it raised only issues which had been raised to and ruled upon by the Court in the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order. Therefore, the time to appeal from the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order was not extended by her 59(e) Motion, and the time within which to appeal from the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order expired on June 14<sup>th</sup>. No Plaintiff timely filed a Notice of Appeal. Under those circumstances, to the extent the Notice of Appeal filed on September 23<sup>rd</sup> appeal applies to the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order, this Court lacks jurisdiction to consider this appeal, and this Appeal should be dismissed.

2. The time for appeal from the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order expired at the latest on July 19<sup>th</sup>.

If Rachel Farley's 59(e) Motion was necessary and proper and tolled the time to appeal from the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order (which is denied), the time for appeal from the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order expired on July 19<sup>th</sup>.

It is the law in South Carolina that (1) the timely filing of a proper Rule 59(e) motion stays the time for appeal, (2) the denial of such a motion restores the finality of the Order to which it was addressed and (3) pursuant

to Rule 203(b)(1) the time for appeal begins to run from the day written notice of the Order denying the motion is received.

This Court first addressed the issue of the effect of the denial of a proper post-trial motion in Coward Hund Construction v. Ball Corp., 336 S.C. 1, 518 S.E. 2d 56 (Ct. App. 1999) (Rehearing Denied September 11, 1999). There, final orders granting summary judgment to the defendants were served on April 22, 1997. Coward Hund filed a motion for reconsideration on April 30, 1997. On June 20, 1997 the Circuit Court issued an Order denying the motion. Coward Hund received that Order on July 10, 1997. The finality of the April 22<sup>nd</sup> Order was restored on July 10, 1997; the time for Coward Hund to appeal began to run on July 10, 1997; and the time for Coward Hund to file an appeal expired on August 9<sup>th</sup>.

Coward Hund then filed a second motion for reconsideration in which it sought clarification of issues raised with regard to claims of indemnity against the Defendant. On July 28, 1997 the Circuit Court issued a supplemental Order saying:

The court granted summary judgment to Defendants Carolina Glass and Ball Corp. without the court referencing any prejudice regarding Coward Hund's indemnity claims, if any.

Id. Coward Hund received this Order on August 4<sup>th</sup> or 5<sup>th</sup> and filed its Notice of Appeal on September 2, 1997. Following the prevailing rule in Federal Courts, in the absence of controlling case law in South Carolina, this Court of Appeals held:

In the case before us the trial court denied Coward Hund's first motion for reconsideration. The finality of the summary judgment orders, then, was restored, and Coward Hund's time for filing its notice of appeal began to run upon its receipt of the Order denying the motion.

Because Coward Hund did not file a Notice of Appeal within thirty (30) days of July 10, 1997 (the date on which the finality of the earlier orders was restored), Coward Hund's appeal was dismissed as untimely. *Id.* at 3-4, 58.

Under the holding of Coward Hund, the finality of the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order was restored on June 19<sup>th</sup> by the Order denying Rachel Farley's 59(e) Motion. The language of the Order of June 19<sup>th</sup> denying her motion was complete on its face. It was an absolute and final denial of her Motion. It did not contemplate the entry of a "more full and complete order or judgment" relating to either the merits of the case or the denial of that Motion. See, Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR, supra. Therefore, the time to file a notice of appeal from the "restored" May 9<sup>th</sup> Order "began to run upon receipt of the order denying the motion." Coward Hund, supra. The Plaintiffs received the Order denying her 59(e) Motion on June 19<sup>th</sup>. Their time to appeal from the "restored" May 9<sup>th</sup> Order began to run on June 19<sup>th</sup> and expired on July 19<sup>th</sup>. No Plaintiff filed a Notice of Appeal on or before July 19<sup>th</sup>, and the Notice of Appeal filed on September 23<sup>rd</sup>, to the extent it is directed to the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order or the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order, should be dismissed.

E. Rachel Farley's second, written, post-trial motion did not further extend her time to appeal from the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order, and the Notice of Appeal filed on September 23<sup>rd</sup> should be dismissed as untimely.

It is also the law in South Carolina that the time for filing an appeal from a "restored" final Order is not tolled by the filing of a second, written post-trial motion (1) filed under a different caption, (2) raising the same issues that were raised in the earlier, written post-trial motion which was ruled on and denied and (3) failing to address the changes made in the Order denying the first post-trial motion.

The cases addressing the issue of the effect of (1) the denial of a proper post-trial motion and (2) the effect of the filing and denial of successive post-trial motions began with the Court of Appeals' decision in Coward Hund, supra. The issue was next discussed in the case of Quality Trailer Products, Inc., v. CSL Equipment Company, Inc., 349 S.C. 216, 562 S.E. 2d 615 (2002) (Rehearing denied May 16, 2002). The issue in Quality Trailer was "whether the time for serving a notice of appeal is tolled by the subsequent filing of the same motion under a different caption." Id. at n. 3.

In Quality Trailer, following a jury verdict, I Corp., made timely motions for JNOV and for new trial. Those motions were denied by Order dated December 20, 1999 and filed on December 21, 1999. On December 31, 1999, I Corp. filed a motion to "Alter, Amend or Reconsider Judgment and Findings Denying Defendant's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and Motion for New Trial." The second motion was made pursuant to Rules 52, 59 and 60 and was almost a duplicate of the first motion. Recognizing the second motion was, in substance, identical to the first motion, the Court denied the second motion by Order dated February 16, 2000 and filed on February 21, 2000. I Corp. filed its Notice of Appeal on March 17, 2000.

In its Opinion dismissing the appeal as untimely, the Supreme Court noted that:

In its Order denying the second motion, the trial court remarked that ‘the [second] motion is an exact compilation of the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and motion for a new trial with a few procedural alterations. In sum, the motion seeks reversal of the Order, but provides no additional assertion of fact or argument of law.’ We agree with the trial court’s interpretation of the second motion.

Id. at 220, 617. Based on the procedural history of the case and the nature of the second motion, the Supreme Court held:

We agree with the rationale of Coward Hund and hold that successive motions for JNOV do not toll the time for serving notice of appeal. The time for filing appeal is not extended by submitting the same motion under a different caption.

Id. at 220, 617. The Court, went on to say:

We find that I Corp’s second motion literally recites the arguments previously raised and previously ruled upon by the trial court in I Corp’s first motion. The second motion was not, despite its caption, an appropriate Rule 59(e) motion. It was simply a successive motion for JNOV and a new trial, and thus did not toll the time for serving the Notice of Appeal. I Corp. did not serve its Notice of Appeal within the time prescribed in Rule 203, SCACR. We therefore dismiss the Appeal as untimely.

Id. at 221, 618.

Later in 2002, this Court again addressed the issue in Collins Music Company v. IGT, 353 S.C. 559, 579 S.E. 2d 524 (Ct. App. 2002), and dismissed the appeal as untimely. There, IGT timely filed motions pursuant to Rule 50(b) and 59 asking for either a new trial or new trial remittitur on twenty-eight grounds. The trial court “after carefully reviewing the matter” issued an Order denying the motion. A copy of that order was served on IGT on September 5, 2006. On September 12, 2006 IGT served a Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend the judgment in which IGT simply restated the arguments made in its first post-trial motion. On October 29, 2001 the trial

court issued an Order denying the Rule 59(e) motion specifically saying IGT had failed to raise any issue not already raised and considered. IGT received the order denying the Rule 59(e) Motion on November 5, 2001 and served its Notice of Appeal on November 21, 2001.

Citing Coward Hund and Quality Trailer as clearly standing “for the proposition that although a successive post-trial motion for relief is permissible, the subsequent motion must seek relief on issues coming to light as the result of the order following the initial post-trial motion that alters or amends the judgment,” this Court in Collins Music held:

The successive motion cannot be a motion to alter or amend that merely recites arguments in a previous Rule 59(e) motion, as was the case in Coward Hund, or the recaptioning of previous Rule 50 or Rule 52 motions as a Rule 59(e) motion, as was done in Quality Trailer.

Id. at 564, 526. This Court went on to say:

The circuit judge denied IGT’s motions for JNOV, new trial and new trial nisi remittitur in his first post-trial order. Accordingly, the underlying issues giving rise to these motions were preserved and ripe for appellate review.

We rule IGT’s Rule 59(e) motion was nothing but a recapitulation of the arguments raised and previously ruled upon by the circuit court and did not toll the time for serving the notice of appeal. We therefore dismiss the appeal as untimely.

Id. at 566, 527.

Thereafter, in Matthews v. Richland County School Dist. One, 357 S.C. 594, 594 S.E. 2d 177 (Ct. App. 2004), and in an unpublished Order in Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., S.C. Ct. App. Order dated July 25, 2002, this Court dismissed as untimely appeals filed following the denial of a Rule 59(e) motion which had been filed following the denial of ORAL motions for a new trial. In Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 381 S.C. 9, 602 S.E. 2d 772 (2004), the Supreme Court reversed Matthews and the unpublished Order and reaffirmed the principles expressed in Coward Hund, Quality Trailer and Collins Music.

In reaffirming those decisions, the Supreme Court drew a bright line distinction between the timeliness of the filing of a notice of appeal following (1) the denial of a written post-trial motion filed after the denial of an earlier ORAL post-trial motion and (2) the denial of a written post-trial motion filed after the denial of an earlier WRITTEN post-trial motion. In the first situation the appeal is timely. In the second situation – which is the case at bar – the appeal is untimely.

In this case, the Order dismissing the case with prejudice was entered on May 9<sup>th</sup>. Rachel Farley’s Rule 59(e) motion was denied by Order dated, signed and served on June 19<sup>th</sup> and filed on June 20, 2019. That Order immediately restored the finality of the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order. The time for filing a Notice of Appeal began to run on June 19<sup>th</sup>, the day the Plaintiffs received the Order denying the motion, and the time to appeal from the “Restored” May 9<sup>th</sup> Order expired on July 19<sup>th</sup>. Coward Hund, supra.

No Plaintiff filed a Notice of Appeal of the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order on or before July 19<sup>th</sup>. On August 2<sup>nd</sup>, two weeks after that deadline passed, Rachel Farley filed a Motion to Reconsider the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order. That motion is treated as a motion under Rule 59(e), Elam, supra.

Her second motion did not address the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order which had become final on July 19<sup>th</sup>. Her second motion was filed under a different caption but sought the same relief she had asked for in her first 59(e) Motion. Her second motion, in essence, sought reversal of the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order, but she provided no additional assertion of fact or argument of law. Quality Trailer, supra. Her second motion did not address any of the three (3) clerical corrections that were made to the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order by the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order. Collins Music, supra. Therefore, her second motion did not extend the time to appeal from the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order which became final on July 19<sup>th</sup> at the latest, and

the Notice of Appeal filed on September 23, 2019 addressing only the Order of September 12<sup>th</sup> should be dismissed as untimely.

F. The July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order did not affect the finality of the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order on the merits.

Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR, contains the following provision:

When a form or other short order or judgment indicates that a more full and complete order or judgment is to follow, a party need not appeal until receipt of written notice of entry of the more complete order or judgment.

Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR.

The Order of June 19<sup>th</sup> granted the Rule 60(a) motion requesting the correction of three clerical errors in the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order. The Rule 60(a) motion did not extend the time to appeal. Otten, supra. The June 19<sup>th</sup> Order contained language indicating that “a more full and complete order” reflecting those amendments would follow.

Consistent with that indication, the Court entered an Order on July 23, 2019 reflecting those amendments. The July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order did not amend or change the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order other than to correct those three clerical errors. It did not change or amend in any way the findings and rulings made in the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order relating to the merits of the case. The only change made to the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order by the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order was the correction of clerical errors in three footnotes. None of those corrections had any impact or effect upon the Court’s rulings on the merits in the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order.

The July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order was not a “more full and complete” order on the merits of the case. Therefore, the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order had no effect on the time to appeal from the “restored” May 9<sup>th</sup> Order which became final at the latest on July 19, 2019. The Motion to Reconsider did not address any of the amendments to the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order making the clerical corrections. Instead, that motion raised the same issues which had been raised in the earlier Rule 59(e) motion. Those issues related to only the merits of the case, and those issues had been considered and ruled upon in the Order

denying the first 59(e) motion. The “full and complete” Order relating only to the clerical corrections had no effect on the restored May 9<sup>th</sup> Order which became final at the latest on July 19, 2019. Therefore, to the extent the Notice of Appeal filed on September 23<sup>rd</sup> relates to either the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order, the restored May 9<sup>th</sup> Order or the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order, it is untimely and should be dismissed.

G. The Motion for Reconsideration of the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order did not toll the time to appeal from that Order. The Motion to Reconsider the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order raised only issues which had been “raised to and ruled upon” by the Court in the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order. Thus, under Elam, supra, the Motion to Reconsider the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order was not proper or necessary, and it did not extend the time for appeal from the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order. Therefore, the time to appeal from that Order expired on August 22, 2019. No Plaintiff timely filed an appeal. The appeal was filed on September 23<sup>rd</sup>. To the extent the Notice of Appeal is directed to the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order, it should be dismissed.

H. The Notice of Appeal does not address the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order. The June 19<sup>th</sup> Order or the July 23, 2019 Order and should be dismissed. In the case of Bogart v. Chapell, 396 F.3d 548 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002), the Fourth Circuit entertained an appeal from the denial of a Rule 59(e) motion where the appeal was timely and addressed both the Order denying the motion and the underlying final Order. For good reason, no case has been found in which a court entertained an appeal from only the Order denying a second post-trial motion as is the case here. If such an appeal is allowed after the underlying Order becomes final, a party could extend indefinitely the time for appeal by simply filing successive post-trial motions raising the same issue and then, at a whim, decide to appeal the Order denying the last motion. To avoid that absurd result, the Notice of Appeal must be timely filed after the underlying Order becomes final, and the Notice of Appeal must address either the underlying Order or both the underlying Order and the Order denying the post-trial

motion. In this case, since a Notice of Appeal from the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order, the June 19<sup>th</sup> Order or the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order was not timely filed, the Notice of Appeal filed on September 23<sup>rd</sup> addressing only the September 12<sup>th</sup> Order, should be dismissed.

## II.

Under these circumstances, the appeal, if it is allowed to proceed, should be limited to issues arising from the three clerical changes made to the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order by the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order. The only change made to the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order by the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order was the correction of three clerical errors. The correction of those clerical errors had absolutely no bearing or impact on the substantive content of the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order. The relevant findings and rulings on the merits made by the Court in the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order remained the same.

Beyond that, Rachel Farley's second motion did not address any of the clerical changes made to the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order by the July 23<sup>rd</sup> Order. Therefore, neither the Rule 60(a) motion, the Order granting that motion and amending the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order nor the Order reflecting those amendments had any effect on the deadline for filing an appeal from the "restored" May 9<sup>th</sup> Order which became ripe for appeal at the latest on June 19, 2019. No Plaintiff filed a timely appeal from the May 9<sup>th</sup> Order.

The Notice of Appeal addresses only the September 12, 2019 Order which denied the Motion for Reconsideration. The only new language in the "restored" May 9<sup>th</sup> Order relates to the correction of the three clerical errors. Therefore, if this Court allows this appeal to proceed at all, the issues to be addressed by the appeal should be limited to that portion of the Revised May 9<sup>th</sup> Order pertaining to only the correction of the three clerical errors, all of which were properly corrected.

Based on the foregoing facts and the applicable law either (a) the Appellants' Notice of Appeal filed on September 23, 2019 should be dismissed as untimely or (b) if the appeal is allowed to proceed, the issues on appeal should be limited to those issues arising from the correction of the three clerical errors by the Revised May 9<sup>th</sup> Order.

### III.

The lower court correctly granted the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed the case with prejudice.

A. The relevant claims of Plaintiffs are barred by the three-year statute of limitations set out in S.C. Code Ann. 15-3-530. That Section requires the following actions to be brought within three years: (1) an action upon a contract; (2) an action for trespass upon or damage to real property; (3) an action for . . . any injury to the person or rights of another. . . . The three year statute begins to run "when the facts and circumstances of an injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his has been invaded or that some claim against another party may exist." See, e.g. Peterson v. Richland County, 335 S.C. 135, 515 S.E.2d 553 (Ct. App. 1999); Anon. Taxpayer v. S.C. Dept. Rev., 377 S.C. 425, 661 S.E.2d. 73 (2008).

The three-year statute of limitations applies to an action for negligence, and the statute begins to run when the facts and circumstances of an injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some claim against another party may exist. Jumper v. Milliman, 381 S.C. 101, 671 S.E.2d 636 (Ct. App. 2009) (rev'd. on other grounds); Harper v. Ebenezer Senior Services, 377 S.C. 217, 659 S.E.2d 213 (Ct. App. 2008).

The application of the three-year statute of limitations to an action for trespass depends upon the nature of the trespass. If the trespass is permanent so that the entire damage occurs in the first instance, the three-year statute applies. If the trespass is "continuing," meaning it is

“intermittent or periodical,” the expiration of the three-year statute does not completely bar the claim, but the Plaintiff is limited to damage which occurred within the statutory period. Melton, ex rel. Dutton v. Carolina Power and Light Co., 283 R.F.D. 280 D.S.C. (2012), citing Hedgepath v. AT&T, 348 S.C. 340, 357, 529 S.E.2d 327, 337 (Ct. App. 2001).

The discovery rule applies to actions for trespass upon or damage to real property. See, e.g., Barn v. City of Rock Hill, 330 S.C. 640, 500 S.E.2d 157 (Ct. App. 1998). The discovery rule also applies to action for injury to the person or the rights of another. S.C. Code Ann. §15-3-535.

The Court below found that the parking lot was built in 2006 and that the building was constructed in 2009. The Appellants do not contest this finding. They state this as a fact ub their Statement of the Case. The Court below also found that the parking lot and the building which encroached on the easement were permanent in nature. The Appellants do not contest that finding.

The lower court also held:

The existence of each of those encroachments was obvious after each was in place in 2008 (sic) and 2009 respectively. Ms. Farley as Trustee knew, or with the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, those encroachments existed prior to her death in 2012.

Order, page 8. The Appellants do not contest this holding. Therefore, each of the relevant claims of the Appellants are barred by the three-year statute of limitations.

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